1949

# The State Insurance Fund v. Elbert I. Lunnan and The Industrial Commission of Utah : Brief of Plaintiff

Utah Supreme Court

## QUESTION FOR REVIEW

The question of most importance in this case is whether Mr. Lunnen filed his written application with the Industrial Commission within the required time specified in the Occupational Disease Law.

## ARGUMENT

We shall assume, for the purpose of this discussion, that Mr. Lunnen established by competent evidence that he became totally disabled as the result of several years' exposure to poisonous and irritating smoke and fumes in his work at the Lundin & May plant.

## POINT 1

MR. LUNNEN'S APPLICATION FOR COMPENSATION WAS NOT FILED WITH THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION WITHIN THE REQUIRED PERIOD OF TIME AND WAS THEREFORE LEGALLY BARRED.

Section 42-1a-49 of the Occupational Disease Law provides:

The right to compensation under this act for disability or death from an occupational disease shall be forever barred unless written claim is filed with the commission within the time as in this section hereinafter provided:

(a) If the claim is made by an employee and based upon silicosis it must be filed within one year after the cause of action arises.

(b) If the claim is made by an employee and based upon a disease other than silicosis it must be filed within sixty days after the cause of action arises, except in case of benzol or its derivatives when it must be filed within ninety days.

(c) (This subsection relates to death cases.)

Mr. Lunnen's claim, after it was amended by his attorney, (Tr. 2 & 3), was undisputably based upon an occupational disease other than silicosis, and therefore comes within the provisions of the statutory limitation of subsection (b) above-quoted. The disputed point in this case involves the question, "When does a cause of action arise in an occupational disease case?"

We might be willing to concede that Mr. Lunnen's first application of August 5, 1948, should be considered a proper written claim filed with the Industrial Commission, even though it was on a different form than is customarily used in occupational disease cases. But that would not help him any. August 5, 1948, is almost six months after the day Mr. Lunnen's total disability commenced on February 8, 1948. He was required to file his claim within 60 days after his cause of action arose.

Among other things, the Industrial Commission's decision contained the following findings:

\* \* \* \*



“he was exposed during this period to harmful quantities of poisonous fumes containing phosphorus, manganese, chloride and chrome; that on February 8, 1948, he quit his job because he was physically unable to work; that he consulted doctors Bauerline and Hatch who advised him to quit work and go to Arizona; that no complete diagnosis was made at this time to the applicant; that the applicant became dissatisfied with the progress made in his recovery and on July 9, 1948, went to see Dr. Vernon Stevenson. Following a complete physical examination of the applicant and the x-rays taken of the applicant, Dr. Stevenson found on July 28, 1948, that the applicant was totally disabled as a result of exposure to poisonous fumes arising out of or in the course of his employment; that the cause of action in this case arose on July 28, 1948, when a complete diagnosis was made by Dr. Vernon Stevenson of this case and a finding was made; that applicant was physically unable to continue his work because of this occupational disease he had incurred due to his exposure to poison fumes during his employment from January, 1926, to February, 1948, by Lundin and May Foundry and Machine Company; that the applicant filed a claim for compensation with the Industrial Commission on September 18, 1948, and is within the statute of limitations for filing his claim.”

The Commission's finding, or conclusion, that Mr. Lunnen's cause of action arose on July 28, 1948, was the basic error in the Commission's decision.

It is our contention that Mr. Lunnen's cause of action arose on February 8, 1948, the date when he became totally disabled, and since which date he has been continuously totally disabled.



No occupational disease case has ever come to the Supreme Court of Utah prior to this, in which was involved a question relating to when the cause of action arose, so far as we are aware. Neither have we been able to find any occupational disease case from any other state which involved the exact wording of the Statute of Limitations contained in Section 49 of the Utah Occupational Disease Disability Law.

When this matter was pending before the Industrial Commission a Memorandum of Authorities was submitted by Mr. Lunnen's attorney at that time. He likewise apparently was unable to find any case which involved a Statute of Limitations containing the same wording as that found in our Occupational Disease Law.

What are the necessary elements which give an employee a "cause of action" under the Utah Occupational Disease Law? They are enumerated in Section 42-1a-13, as follows:

(a) There is imposed upon every employer a liability for the payment of compensation to every employee who becomes totally disabled by reason of an occupational disease subject to the following conditions:

(1) No compensation shall be paid when the last day of injurious exposure of the employee to the hazards of said occupational diseases shall have occurred prior to the effective date of this act.

(2) No compensation shall be paid for a disease other than silicosis unless total disability

results within one hundred twenty days from the last day upon which the employee actually worked for the employer against whom compensation is claimed.

(3) (This subsection relates to silicosis which is not here involved.)

(4) No claim shall be maintained nor compensation paid unless the claim has been filed with the commission in writing within the time fixed by the appropriate subdivision of Section 49 of this act.

(The rest of the Section relates to death cases.)

Applying all these provisions to Mr. Lunnen's claim:

First, he must have had exposure to harmful substances in the work done for his employer in the period between July 1, 1941, and February 7, 1948.

Next, he must have become totally disabled as the result of that exposure and such total disability must have commenced within 120 days after February 7, 1948, which was the last day of such exposure. In other words, his total disability must have commenced on or before June 6, 1948.

Next, he must have filed his written claim with the Industrial Commission within 60 days after his cause of action arose.

With respect to the exposure, the evidence in the record is ample to satisfy that requirement. With respect to the time when his total disability commenced, we have already stated that the record shows Mr. Lunnen became totally disabled February 8, 1948. Inasmuch as

his attorney has filed an Answer to our Petition for Writ of Certiorari, in which Answer he alleges that the record does not establish whether Mr. Lunnen was totally disabled on February 8, 1948, or at some later date, we shall quote a few portions of the testimony given by Mr. Lunnen, himself. In both of his applications Mr. Lunnen stated that he left work on February 8, 1948, and that he continued to be totally disabled from that day until the date he filed each application. Then in his testimony (Tr. 9 & 10) he stated that the smoke and fumes which were given off during welding operations were so unpleasant and irritating that he was unable to stay with it for more than half an hour at a time and that he had complained to his employer about this condition several times during the 4 or 5 years previous to his quitting work. At Tr. 10 he testified as follows:

Q. What brought you to make that complaint?

A. Well, on a particular bronze job, I had to do an acetylene bronze job, and I told the boss at the time that it was getting too much for me.

Q. Was there anything in your physical condition that made you arrive at that conclusion?

A. Just your lungs, you get so you can taste it in your food at night.

Q. That was about four or five years ago you made that complaint?

A. Yes.

Q. I will ask you whether you have noticed any difficulty in breathing, and whether you did at that time.

A. This was coming on for five or six years, difficulty in breathing.

Q. When you noticed this difficulty in breathing, you complained to your employer?

A. I have told them time and again.

Q. I will ask you whether or not in the last few years it has been necessary for you to lay off work for short periods of time?

A. Yes.

Q. What period?

A. Every time I would weld on bronze I would have to lay off three to eight days.

He further testified that after he quit working February 8, 1948, he consulted Drs. Bauerline and Hatch, who told him to quit his work and go to Arizona. He then went to the office of the Industrial Commission where he was supplied with certain forms, one set of them yellow and the other set white. (Tr. 11, 12, 29 & 30.) He took the yellow forms to the office of Drs. Bauerline and Hatch, but kept the white forms at his home. Apparently the white forms were the blanks upon which he could have made his claim to the Industrial Commission, although that was not clearly brought out in the hearing. On the back of the form filed by him on September 18, 1948, he stated "I was forced to quit work on February 8, 1948, because of my illness." He also testified, (Tr. 29) :

Q. You say you went to Doctors Hatch and Bauerline in February, 1948?

A. Yes.

Q. What was the purpose of going there?

A. To find out about my lungs.

Q. They were giving you trouble at that time?

A. Yes, that is the reason I quit work altogether.

Q. The condition of your lungs made is necessary for you to quit work February 8, 1948?

A. Yes.

and at (Tr. 30) :

A. In there they handed me two different papers, and I took one set of papers home.

Q. What did it say on them?

A. I don't know. I took the three yellow ones up to the clinic but they never filled them out.

MR. RAMPTON: That was to Dr. Bauerline?

A. Yes.

Q. Did Doctor Bauerline tell you why?

A. He told me that I had to stay out of that.

Q. You were aware at that time that your disability was probably caused by your employment?

A. Yes, I had known it for a long while.

\* \* \* \*

Q. What did Dr. Bauerline tell you was the cause of it?

A. Dr. Bauerline said it was caused over a period of years and the condition of the place where I worked.

In Mr. Lunnen's attorney's Memorandum filed with the Industrial Commission, he argued that the 60-day Statute of Limitations should not commence to run in this case until Mr. Lunnen was informed by Dr. Stevenson on July 28, 1948, that his disability was caused from injury to his lungs and diaphragm, which Dr. Corey's x-ray and Dr. Stevenson's diagnosis determined were the results of inhalation of gases from the welding

operations containing phosphorus, manganese, chloride and chrome. The Industrial Commission apparently accepted that theory as the basis for its finding and conclusion that Mr. Lunnen's cause of action arose within the required statutory period prior to the time he filed his claim. The Industrial Commission's decision, however, did not explain the date upon which Mr. Lunnen's cause of action arose. The evidence we have quoted clearly showed that he knew that the gases and fumes and smoke from the welding operations at his employer's plant were causing him to have lung difficulty and other physical troubles for several years prior to the date when he finally quit work; and he also knew that these lung troubles and other physical difficulties were the cause of his inability to further continue his work.

On the general subject of when does a cause of action arise, we briefly quote the following:

34 *American Jurisprudence*, p. 92, §113:

It may be stated as a sound general proposition that a cause of action accrues the moment the right to commence an action comes into existence, and the statute of limitations commences to run from that time even though, in some jurisdictions, the party is ignorant as to the existence of his rights or the cause of action is fraudulently concealed. As the rule is otherwise expressed, a right of action accrues whenever such a breach of duty or contract has occurred, or such a wrong has been sustained, as will give a right to bring and sustain a suit. Conversely, the right to commence an action arises the moment the cause of action accrues. In the absence of a statute to the con-



trary, the test in each case is whether the party asserting a claim is entitled to maintain an action to enforce it, for no limitation commences to run against any demand until the obligation or demand is due and payable, in the sense that it is defined sufficiently to be capable of enforcement.

(See *Last Chance Ranch Co. vs. Erickson*, 25 Pac. (2nd) 952, 82 Utah 475.)

86 A. L. R. 574:

The decision that the statute begins to run only when the disease culminates in actual disability is also strongly supported by other cases not turning upon that point, but holding, like Johnson's Case (1914) 217 Mass. 388, 104 N. E. 735, 4NCCCA 843, and Bergeron's Case (1923) 243 Mass. 366, 137 N. E. 739, that injury to a workman who had for years been gradually absorbing a poison into his system while working, but did not quit work until it made him so sick that he had to stop, was not received until he finally quit.

54 *Corpus Juris Secundum*, pages 11 & 12, §109:

A cause or right of action accrues, so as to start the Statute of Limitations running, when the right to institute and maintain a suit arises, and not before.

\* \* \* whenever one person may sue another a cause of action has accrued and the Statute of Limitations begins to run \* \* \*.

The running of the statute, however, is not delayed until plaintiff can secure sufficient evidence to maintain his action.

On February 8, 1948, Mr. Lunnen was entitled to claim occupational disease compensation against his employer and its insurance carrier. Before that date



he did not have any cause of action (right to file a claim), against his employer and its insurance carrier. February 8, 1948, was the first day on which all the necessary elements of an occupational disease case were in existence and upon the basis of which Lunnen could have legally filed a claim. Consequently, February 8, 1948, was the day when his case of action “accrued” or “arose,” both of which words mean the same thing insofar as they relate to a cause of action.

While the Workmen’s Compensation Law of Utah contains an entirely different Statute of Limitations than that contained in the Occupational Disease Law, (and the Workmen’s Compensation Law always did have a differently worded Statute of Limitations than the Occupational Disease Law), there is one case which was decided by the Supreme Court of Utah relating to a workman’s compensation claim which contains a statement of basic rules relating to the Statute of Limitations which may be helpful to the Court in its consideration of the case at bar. We refer to *Salt Lake City vs. Industrial Commission*, 74 Pac. (2nd) 657, 93 Utah 510. That case involved a situation which arose prior to the Legislature’s enactment of the present three-year Statute of Limitations found in the last sentence of Section 43-1-92 of the Workmen’s Compensation Law. We quote from 93 Utah, page 513:

“The (Workmen’s) Compensation Act, Rev. St. 1933, 42-1-1 et seq. imposes a duty on employers to pay compensation to employees who suffer disability from an injury by accident aris-

ing out of or in the course of the employment. Not until there is an accident and injury and a disability or loss from the injury does the duty to pay arise. A mere accident does not impose the duty to pay. Accident plus injury therefrom does not impose the duty. But accident plus injury which results in disability or loss gives rise to the duty to pay."

It also could appropriately be said that the Occupational Disease Law requires payment of compensation benefits when there has been necessary exposure to the harmful substances, plus injury to the employee resulting from that exposure, plus disability resulting from said injury. With the existence of all three of those elements, the employee becomes entitled to make a claim for occupational disease compensation benefits.

The Utah Occupational Disease Law does not contain any provision relating to the employee using diligence in obtaining a thorough medical diagnosis of his case, or learning the technical medical name of the particular disease which disables him, or obtaining the necessary medical evidence which he might need to establish his claim. But the Occupational Disease Law does contain an absolute limitation of the time within which he must file his written claim with the Industrial Commission in order for him to be entitled to the benefits provided by the Law.

The case of *Cleveland vs. Laclede Christy Clay Products Company*, 129 S. W. (2nd) 12, which was decided by the Missouri Court of Appeals in 1939, involved

the Statute of Limitations applicable to a claim for disability from silicosis. The Missouri workmen's compensation law covers both accidental injuries and occupational diseases, and in that respect differs from Utah's statutes, in which the occupational disease law is a separate act. However, this case has considerable similarity to the case at bar, even though they involve different occupational diseases. The Missouri Court said:

"It is claimed by counsel for the claimant that his condition was first discovered on January 7, 1937, following an x-ray examination on January 3, 1937. This was the date his physician informed him of the name of the disease from which he was suffering, to wit: "silicosis." It is urged that this information was the first knowledge he had that he was suffering from an occupational disease, and it is further urged that he, because of learning the name of his lung trouble, filed his claim with the Workmen's Compensation Commission on January 28, 1937. Dr. Weinell, his physician had been treating him for the chest trouble for a long period of time, and what claimant knew prior to January 7, 1937, about his chest trouble was not added to by Dr. Weinell on that date by giving him the specific name of "silicosis" as the disease from which he suffered. The greatest poet has said, "What is in a name? That which we call a rose, by any other name would smell as sweet." It cannot be seriously considered that his chest condition had materially changed immediately upon his knowledge of the name of the disease as gained from his physician. There is nothing in the Workmen's Compensation Law indicating that the six months' statute of limitation does not begin to run until such time

as the employee may be told the technical name of his illness. (Cases cited.) According to his own testimony, claimant knew more than six months prior to the filing of his claim, that he had this trouble in his chest and that he had been treated for it. He knew that the chest trouble was the cause of his inability to do his full work and that the nature of the work aggravated this condition.

\* \* \* \*

It is set out in 37 Corpus Juris, p. 969, as follows: “\* \* \* mere ignorance of the facts which constitute the cause of action will not postpone the operation of the statute of limitations, but the statute will run from the time the cause of action first accrues notwithstanding such ignorance.”

In the case of *Universal Granite Quarries Co. vs. Ind. Comm.*, 272 N. W. 863, 224 Wis. 680:

“It is quite true the claimant knew nothing about silicosis, but he knew about stone dust and thought that was the cause of his difficulty. He did not understand fully the physiological action of stone dust in 1930 and 1931, he probably does not understand it yet, but he knew that stone dust was causing his trouble and must have known that stone dust was connected with his employment for he had worked for 40 years at the same kind of work. \* \* \* Failing to make claim for compensation within two years from the time when he became aware of his condition and the cause of it, his claim is barred.”

In the case of *Brown vs. St. Joseph Lead Co.*, 87 Pac. (2nd) 1000, 60 Idaho 39, the Court's opinion holds



that the accident sustained by a lode mine employee who contracted silicosis was completed when the disease became so bad that the employee was forced to cease working, and the one-year period within which claim for compensation must be filed under the Workmen's Compensation Act began to run from such date. The reason this case comes under the Workmen's Compensation Act is because Idaho's act covers both accidental injuries and occupational diseases.

In both the case of *Agostin vs. Pittsburgh Steel Foundry Corp.*, 47 Atl. (2nd) 680, 354 Pa. 543, and in *Stewart vs. Lakey Foundry & Machine Co.*, 18 N. W. (2nd) 895, 311 Mich. 463, it was held that the right to compensation for disability from exposure to silica dust commenced when the employee quit working and that was the date of his total disability.

We are willing to admit that the 60-day or the 90-day limitation periods provided by the terms of Section 42-1a-49, appear to be somewhat inadequate in certain circumstances. We do not know why the Legislature provided a limitation period of one year within which an employee might file a claim with the Industrial Commission based upon silicosis and in the same section of the Law provided only a 60-day limitation period in cases such as that of Mr. Lunnen's and a 90-day period in claims involving disability from exposure to benzol or its derivatives. Regardless of what reasons the Legislature had in providing those particular limitation periods for

those particular types of cases, we are bound by the Legislative enactment. There probably are several provisions of the Occupational Disease Law which the Legislature should amend and which we would be willing to discuss and recommend before the proper tribunal, namely the Legislature or some of its committees.

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