1949

The State Insurance Fund v. Elbert I. Lunnan and The Industrial Commission of Utah : Brief of Defendant

Utah Supreme Court

INTRODUCTION

Mr. Elbert I. Lunnan had worked for a period of over twenty years as a welder for Lundin & May Foundry and Machinery Company. In the course of his duties he was placed in a position where he frequently and continually inhaled noxious fumes arising from welding operations. About five years ago he began to experience a shortness of breath and without medical diagnosis assumed that this was in some way connected with the inhalation of the welding fumes. He made complaint to his employer

at that time and on frequent occasions thereafter. The shortness of breath became more pronounced and the claimant had several periods when it was necessary for him to lay off work for several days. In 1947 he contracted pneumonia which resulted in his being away from work for about six weeks. Finally on the 8th day of February, 1948 his shortness of breath became so pronounced that he left work and reported for treatment to Doctors Bauerlein and Hatch. He was advised by Doctors Bauerlein and Hatch that his shortness of breath probably in some way resulted from his inhalation of the welding fumes and he was advised by them that he should not return to his occupation as a welder. However, no specific diagnosis of his trouble was ever made at that time and he was never advised by Doctors Bauerlein and Hatch that his condition would not clear up so that he could carry on some gainful occupation other than as a welder.

At their suggestion he reported to the Industrial Commission and secured certain blanks to be filled out by his physicians. These he turned over to Drs. Bauerlein and Hatch but as a complete diagnosis was never made, these forms were not filed with the Commission at that time. When Drs. Bauerlein and Hatch did not make a complete diagnosis, Mr. Lunnen reported to Dr. Vernon Stevenson on July 9, 1948. After a course of observation, including x-rays, Dr. Stevenson determined on the 28th day of July, 1948 that the claimant's disability arose from certain injury to the lungs and diaphragm which he determined was caused by the inhalation of gasses from

welding operations containing, among other things, chlorine, manganese, phosphorous and chrome. Dr. Stevenson also determined and advised the claimant that his disability was permanent and total and that he would never again be able to carry on gainful employment either as a welder or in any other capacity.

On August 5, 1948 Mr. Lunnen filed a written claim for compensation with the Industrial Commission of Utah. Thereafter a hearing was held on such claim and award was made to Mr. Lunnen. This appeal is taken from such award by the Industrial Commission.

CLAIM WAS MADE WITHIN SIXTY DAYS AFTER DISCOVERY OF THE DISABILITY

In the plaintiff's brief it is maintained that Mr. Lunnen was aware of the cause of his disability at the time he quit work on February 8, 1948. It is true that he was aware in a general way that his illness resulted from the inhalation of welding fumes. This opinion was confirmed almost immediately by Drs. Bauerlein and Hatch. However, such general knowledge is not such knowledge as would advise the defendant of his right to recover under the Occupational Disease Act for two reasons. It will be noted from an examination of Section 42-1a-28 Utah Code Annotated, 1943, that only certain types of industrial diseases are brought within the coverage of the Occupational Disease Act. As no complete diagnosis of the cause of his disability was ever made by Drs. Bauerlein and Hatch, Mr. Lunnen had no means of know-

ing that he was within the scope of the Act. It was not until his examination by Dr. Stevenson that it was determined and he was advised that the chemicals causing his trouble were, among other things, chlorine, manganese, phosphorous and chrome, all of which are included within the list contained in 42-10-28. Furthermore, not until the reports of the x-rays were obtained on July 28th was there anything to indicate that Mr. Lunnen's disability was permanent and total. In order to qualify a claimant for an award under the Occupational Disease Act he must come within the definition "Disablement" as set forth in Section 42-1a-12, Utah Code Annotated, 1943, sub-section 1a. Only where disability is permanent and total may a claimant qualify for an award. It will be observed from an examination of the record that Mr. Lunnen had had to quit work on several other occasions because of irritation of his lungs. However, after a few days rest he had always been able to return to the job and resume his work. There was nothing at the time he quit work on Feb. 8th to indicate that this was not another such occasion and that he would not be able to return to work of some kind after a period of rest.

When he was examined by Drs. Bauerlein and Hatch they advised him not to return to his work as a welder and advised him it would be best for him to move to some warmer and dryer climate. However, there was no indication given to him at this time that his condition would not clear up if he stayed away from the welding operations nor was there any indication that he would not be able to earn a livelihood in some pursuit other than that

of a welder. When the x-ray findings were made known to him it was evident that he had adhesions on his diaphragm which were permanent, that his condition would not clear up and that he could not work in any capacity. Therefore, not until July 28, 1948 was Mr. Lunnen able to determine that he was eligible for an award under the Industrial Disease Act.

Certainly it cannot be said that there was any lack of diligence on his part. He consulted doctors as quickly as he left his employment and when he became dissatisfied with the progress he was making under the first physicians consulted he changed to another doctor.

THE CAUSE OF ACTION UNDER THE INDUSTRIAL DISEASE ACT DOES NOT ARISE UNTIL A CLAIMANT WITH DUE DILIGENCE IS ABLE TO DETERMINE THAT HE HAS A DISABILITY WITHIN THE CONTEMPLATION OF THE STATUTE.

The plaintiff in its brief states that there are no cases decided directly in point with the case now before the court. The defendants are unable to agree with this contention. While there are no cases yet decided by this court there are a number of cases from other jurisdictions passing directly upon the point as to when a cause of action arises and the time begins to run in Workmen's Compensation cases. A case directly in point is the California case of *Marsh v. Industrial Commission of California*, 18 Pac. (2d) 933. In that case the Supreme

Court of California had before it three claims, two death claims and one disability claim. In each case the employee had been engaged in the processing of silica products and had developed a related disease to silicosis. In each case the claim for allowance had been made beyond the statutory period after the last date of employment. The court disallowed one of the death claims on another ground but in passing on the question as to when the time began to run in an occupational disease case so far as the filing of the claim is concerned the court stated:

“From our study of the subject we are brought to the conclusion that in the case of a latent and progressive disease such as pneumoconiosis it cannot reasonably be said that the injury dates necessarily from the last day of exposure to a dust laden atmosphere and that the prescriptive period begins to run from that day. Rather, according to our view, should the date of the injury be deemed the time when the accumulated effects culminating in a disability traceable to the latent disease as the primary cause, and by the exercise of reasonable care and diligence it is discoverable and apparent that a compensable injury was sustained in the performance of the duties of employment.”

Again in the same case the court states:

“Our Compensation Act expressly provides that it shall be liberally construed for the protection of persons injured in the course of their employment, and the purpose of such laws is to protect workmen, in proper cases, from economic insecurity. It is not surprising to find, therefore, that in those jurisdictions where occupational diseases are compensable, it is almost universally

the rule that the injury is not deemed to occur until ascertainable disability results. And it may be noted that in our own state it has been held that an employee is not to be deprived of compensation because he fails to make a correct medical diagnosis.”

In the Nebraska case of *Selders vs. Cornhusker Oil Company*, 1946 N. W. 316, the applicant was injured in the back by debris violently thrown against him by a flood of water. Although the injury was painful and noticeable the claimant, apparently assuming that he had merely been bruised, continued at his work as best he could. The situation got worse and about nine months later he reported to an x-ray technician, who disclosed the fracture of a lumbar vertebra. Application for compensation was made and granted the court holding in spite of a six months limitation that the time began to run not from the date of the injury or disability but from the time of the discovery of the nature and extent of the disability.

In the Nebraska case of *Kostron vs. American Packing Company*, 197 N. W. 615, in awarding compensation after the running of the statute if the time of the running were considered to be at the time of the injury the court stated:

“Accidents frequently occur where the true nature of the injury and the resulting disability are not discernible for a considerable time even with the aid of scientific skill. When latent injuries from accidents do not at first indicate disabilities which are compensable, an employee is not necessarily deprived of compensation under

the Workmen's Compensation Act Compiled Statutes 1922, No. 3056, for failure to demand his rights under the Act before they can reasonably be ascertained."

A Louisiana case almost exactly in point as the case now being considered by the Court is Carroll vs. International Paper Company, La. App., 137 So. 907.

In that case the employee suffered a burn on his lip. The burn itself cleared up but a rather painful lump remained. After a considerable period of time beyond the running of the statute if considered from the date of the injury or from the time of the first appearance of the lump it was determined that the lump was cancer. The court in allowing compensation held that the statute did not begin to run until the nature and extent of the disability was ascertained.

In the Utah case of Salt Lake City vs. Industrial Commission, et al, 140 Pac. (2d) 644 the court is concerned under the Occupational Injury Act with the date of notice to the employer and not with the time of filing of the claim and so the case is not exactly in point. However, it is certainly persuasive in the case now before the court in that case a fireman while playing hand ball in the firemen's gymnasium was struck in the eye with the ball on October 22, 1940. The injury was not thought to be serious and the immediate symptoms cleared up. About six months later, however, he began to have trouble with his eye and about fourteen months after the injury consulted a physician when it was determined that

he was suffering from sarcoma of the choroid and that the only possible treatment was removal of the eye. Application for compensation was filed on March 18, 1942, notice to the employer also being given at about the same time. It was contended by the employer that the compensation should be reduced because of the fact that notice to the employer was not given within the statutory period. The court nevertheless upheld the award in this case.

Another Utah case which is very persuasive in this case now before the court is Salt Lake City vs. Industrial Commission, 74 Pac. (2d) 657:

In that case the caretaker of a golf course was struck in the eye by a golf ball. The injury at first was thought to be not serious. However, later it began to develop and some years later resulted in blindness. It was contended that the date of the injury was the date on which the cause of action arose and the statute began to run. The Supreme Court admitted that such had formerly been the rule in the State of Utah but went on to say:

“This line of cases is based on the Utah Consolidated Mining Company case, which held that the applicant must file his application for compensation for disability within one year from the date of the accident. In this regard we think the opinion in that case and the cases which followed it were in error. Since it does not involve a rule of property on which rights were acquired and maintained we think the error should at this time be rectified. We think Section 104-2-28 Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, which was at the time of

the decision of the Utah Consolidated Mining Company case known as Section 6468 Compiled Laws of Utah, 1917, was applicable as a statute of limitations but that it begins to run not from the time of accident but from the time of the employer's failure to pay compensation for disability when the disability can be ascertained * * * ”

An interpretation of when disability can be ascertained is contained in the Connecticut case of *Bremmer vs. Mark Edlitz & Sons*, 174 Atl. 172. In that case the court holds that the disability is apparent not when it is obvious that the claimant is disabled but when it is obvious that he is disabled from a particular identifiable disease. The language of the court is as follows:

“The other implication arising out of the case in question is that there must be a clear recognition of the symptoms as being that of the occupational disease in question. However plain is the presence of the symptom itself unless its relationship to the particular disease also appears there can not be said a manifestation of an assumption of that disease.”

While in an ordinary tort case it is true that the general rule is that a cause of action arises at the time of the negligent or wilful act, a clear distinction exists between this case and a tort case as in a tort case the liability is predicted upon the wilful or negligent act or omission of the defendant and therefore his act has come to rest when the act is done. In the case of an occupational disease, however, the liability is not predicted upon any particular act or omission upon the part of the defendant but rather merely upon the ultimate disability

of the employee whether or not there is any fault on the part of the employer. However, even in tort cases there are well recognized exceptions to the general rule. For example in malpractice cases in many jurisdictions the cause of action arises not at the time the doctor commits the wrongful act but at the time of discovery. The following language is found at 54 Corpus Juris Secundum, 143:

“In some jurisdictions an exception to the general rule founded on ignorance of the patient of the disability is recognized, so that limitations do not run until the patient knows, or with reasonable diligence should know, of the injury or cause of disability.”

In support of this position see the California cases of Huysman vs. Kirsch, 57 Pac. (2) 908 and Ehlen vs. Burrows, 124 Pac. (2) 82.

In the case of Huysman vs. Kirsch above cited the California Supreme Court quotes with approval its own decision in the case of March vs. Industrial Commission of California mentioned above with the following language:

“We annulled the awards and held that the date of the injury was not the date of the exposure nor even the date of the last exposure to the dust laden atmosphere but rather the time when the employees became aware that their injuries were due to such exposure or when by the exercise of reasonable care and diligence they might have ascertained that fact. In other words we held that the statute of limitation did not run against these employees until they knew the causes of their

injury or by reasonable care and diligence should have known the cause of their injury. Our decision was amply supported by authorities from many jurisdictions. The principle running through all these authorities and approved by our decision was that the statute of limitation should not run against an injured employee's right to compensation during the time said person was in ignorance of the cause of his disability and could not with reasonable care and diligence ascertain such cause."

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